WEST VIRGINIA SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS

SCA EFiled: Apr 19 2024
05:04PM EDT
Transaction ID 72791570

NICHOLAS A. GHAPHERY, D.O., :
As Personal Representative of :
the Estate of Austin Ghaphery, :
Plaintiff Below, Petitioner, :
: :
v. : : No. 24-52
: :
WHEELING TREATMENT CENTER, :
LLC and JOHN SCHULTZ, M.D., :
Defendants Below, Respondents :
: :
=====

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

=====

Patrick S. Cassidy, Esq.
WV State Bar No. 671
CASSIDY LAW, PLLC
The First State Capitol
1413 Eoff Street
Wheeling, WV 26003
Phone: (304) 232-8100
Fax: (304) 232-8200
pcassidy@walslaw.com
Counsel for Petitioner,
Nicholas A. Ghaphery, D.O.,
as Personal Representative of
the Estate of Austin Ghaphery

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The Circuit Court erred in granting Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment, and the Intermediate Court of Appeals (hereafter "ICA") erred in affirming said judgment, by finding that Respondents owed no duty to conduct Austin's pre-admission initial assessment (hereafter "initial assessment") as required by the standard of care provided in the MPLA.
2. The Circuit Court erred in granting Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment, and the Intermediate Court of Appeals erred in affirming said judgment, by finding that Respondents owed no duty to Austin to conduct a "suicide risk assessment" in accordance with the standard of care required by the MPLA, which Respondents undertook to do while providing Health Care Services to Austin.
3. The Intermediate Court erred in dismissing Petitioner's case upon affirmance of the Trial Court's Ruling finding that the MPLA imposed no duty upon respondents, instead of remanding it back to the Circuit Court of Ohio County to give Petitioner an opportunity to seek to amend his complaint under WV Rules of Civil Procedure 15 and seek relief under common law negligence under the dictates of *Robertson v. LeMaster*, 171 W.Va. 607, 301 S.E.2d 563 (1983).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Prior to filing this action Petitioner served a Notice of Claim upon each of the Respondents together with Certificates of Merit in accordance with the MPLA's pre-suit requirements provided for at W.Va. Code §55-7B-6(b). Thereafter the Complaint was filed

stating a cause of action entitled Action for Medical Professional Liability Resulting in Wrongful Death (JA 1, Vol. 1).

The evidence adduced during the discovery phase of this action demonstrates that in the event Petitioner had been allowed to present his case to a jury, he was prepared to establish the following facts at trial : (1) Austin finished college and was awarded a B.A. degree from West Liberty University during the summer of 2017; (2) on July 13, 2017 Austin's girlfriend called 911 from their apartment after Austin was not making sense with his words, had become non-responsive and his lips were turning blue, she advised the responding patrolman "this is the third time this has happened since November," that Austin's Mother went to Austin's apartment to help out, and that the patrolman and the EMT believed Austin was under the influence of opiate medication (JA 397-98, Vol. 2); (3) an initial appointment was made with Dr. Schmitt, Austin's primary care physician, who saw Austin five days after the 911 incident based on Mrs. Ghaphery's concern about Austin's drug use, but Austin denied having a drug problem (JA 401-402, Vol. 2); (4) in late September 2017, Austin finally admitted to his father (Dr. Ghaphery) that he did have a drug problem, asked for help with his drug problem, and Dr. Ghaphery called Wheeling Treatment Center (hereafter "WTC") to set up an appointment for his son to be evaluated (JA 405-410, Vol. 2); (5) on September 28, 2017 Austin appeared for his appointment at WTC for help with his drug problem, and at that time, counselor Coen-Pickens determined Austin did not meet the criteria for treatment on the basis that Austin's urine drug screen was not positive for opiates, and that Austin was not demonstrating signs of withdrawal (JA 413, Vol. 2); (6) the urine drug screen given to Austin was not capable of detecting the presence of fentanyl (JA 421-423, 426-428, Vol. 2) such that Austin could have used fentanyl prior to his visit to WTC, not tested positive for opiates, not shown symptoms of withdrawal, and still had an opioid use disorder; (7) after determining that Austin was not an appropriate candidate for admission

based only on the absence of a positive urine test for opiates and the absence of a visible display of withdrawal symptoms, Ms. Coen-Pickens made no further initial assessment of Austin for appropriateness of admission to the MAT Program despite the facility's own Patient Screening Procedure which expressly required staff to complete a Patient Screening Form designed to elicit information necessary to appropriately conduct an initial assessment (JA 435-439, Vol. 2); Ms. Coen-Pickens also failed to comply with West Virginia state regulations requiring the performance of an initial assessment to determine admission eligibility by using accepted medical criteria (JA 441, Vol. 2) including the failure to make any determination of Austin's use of substances of abuse, current substance use disorder, length of substance use disorder, readiness to participate in treatment (JA 443, 446-447, 449-450, 453, 458, Vol. 2); following Austin's Initial Assessment and the Respondents' determination that Austin was not eligible for the MAT Program he was released from WTC (JA 461, Vol. 2); 36 days after WTC Staff and Dr. Schultz determined Austin was not eligible for admission to the MAT Program Austin was found dead lying on the hallway floor outside his bedroom in his father's home. His death was determined on autopsy to have resulted from a drug overdose due to fentanyl, nor-fentanyl, heroin, amphetamines, and cocaine intoxication (JA 167, Vol. 1).

Based on his consideration of the foregoing facts, Petitioner's Expert, Dr. Santoro (an addiction medicine specialist; JA 19, 46, Vol. 1), testified at deposition that Ms. Coen-Pickens and Dr. Schultz breached the applicable standard of care by failing to properly conduct Austin's initial assessment to determine whether he met the criteria for admission to the MAT Program. (JA 426-430, Vol. 2).

The Respondents asserted below they were entitled to summary judgment (notwithstanding their alleged failure to meet the standard of care in conducting Austin's initial assessment) on the ground that because Austin was not ultimately admitted to the MAT Program,

no healthcare provider-patient relationship was formed such as to give rise to a duty the breach of which would justify an action under the MPLA. (JA 270 Vol. 1; JA 488, JA 491, JA 493, Vol. 2). The Respondents’ “no duty” argument is premised on their contention that “no physician-patient relationship was formed and at no time did the Defendants, either individually or collectively, agree to provide any medical service to Austin Ghaphery”. (JA 493, Vol. 2). However, the ICA decision of November 16, 2023 does in fact find that health care services were provided to Austin in connection with his initial assessment for admission to the MAT program, but finds that because he was not “admitted” for actual treatment at Respondent’s facility, he never became a “patient” of Respondent’s, and consequently had no express or implied contract with Respondents creating a healthcare provider-patient duty of care under the MPLA.

As a separate theory of liability, Petitioner pursues a claim against Respondents under the MPLA alleging that Respondents failed to meet the requisite standard of care in assessing Austin’s suicidality. Here, Petitioner contended below that in the event an assessment of Austin’s suicidality had been undertaken and conducted in accordance with the applicable standard of care, arrangements would have been made for Austin to be admitted to a psychiatric facility where his depression, suicidal ideation, and substance use disorder could have been appropriately evaluated and treated; and such intervention, more probably than not, would have prevented Austin’s death by drug overdose 36 days after his visit to WTC. Respondents sought summary judgment on this theory of liability based upon the argument that because no healthcare provider-patient relationship existed between Austin and Respondents the Circuit Court could determine as a matter of law that Respondents were under no duty to Austin at the time they claim to have conducted his suicide risk assessment. In granting summary judgment on this issue the Circuit Court adopted Respondents’ legal position regarding the absence of a healthcare provider-patient relationship between Austin and WTC/Dr. Schultz. (JA 886-888 at 887, Vol. 3).

In affirming the Circuit Courts order, the ICA found that Austin was being provided “health care services,” while said suicide assessment was conducted, but agreed with the Circuit Court that Respondents had no duty because Austin was not a patient, and consequently had no express or implied contact creating a duty of due care in the healthcare provider-patient context.

Questions related to the extent and nature of Austin’s suicidality, and what, if anything, was done by Respondents for purposes of assessing such suicidality are the subject of conflicting testimony such as to clearly present genuine issues of material fact. Further, although, Austin’s patient record is completely devoid of any documentation supporting the conclusion that any suicide risk assessment was conducted during his visit to the WTC, both Ms. Coen-Pickens and Dr. Schultz claimed to have performed an assessment of Austin’s suicidality (JA 418, 479, Vol. 2).

Evidence related to the legal question of whether Respondents were under a duty to assess Austin’s suicidality in a manner consistent with the standard of care includes the case note written by Ms. Coen-Pickens after Austin’s visit which refers at least 11 times to Austin as the “Pt,” meaning “Patient”. Said case note provided as follows: “concern was noted that Pt was having suicidal ideations and had a plan to follow through with utilizing a gun”; that “Pt reported being depressed”; that a discussion was had with the clinical director and medical director about the patient being “in need of a further assessment elsewhere”; and that calls were made to the “Patient’s emergency contact to inform the clinic was requesting further evaluation” but, that no one was able to be contacted (emphasis added) (see JA 460, Vol. 2). Deposition testimony also shows that during his visit to WTC Austin placed a telephone call to his father stating “Dad, they want to admit me to Northwood. I saw the counselor, but I have to go see the doctor next.”

Petitioner’s expert psychiatrist/addiction specialist, Dr. Goldberg (JA 31, Vol. 1), testified at deposition that once the counselor reported her concern about Austin’s suicidality to

Dr. Schultz, the standard of care in the field of addiction medicine required Dr. Schultz to conduct a proper suicide risk assessment; and that when a suicide risk assessment supports the conclusion that a person who presents to a drug treatment is at an elevated risk for harm, the standard of care requires the physician to make a referral to a psychiatric facility for further assessment (JA 465, Vol. 2). Petitioner was also prepared to offer proof at trial that in the event an appropriate suicide risk assessment had been conducted, such assessment would have demonstrated many factors which placed Austin at an elevated risk for harm. These risk factors include that: (1) Austin admitted he was having suicidal ideations; (2) Austin admitted to having a lethal plan to use a gun; (3) Austin appeared at WTC for help with a drug use problem; (4) Austin had been diagnosed with a psychiatric disorder; and (5) the presence of multiple risk factors combined in a single person placed Austin at an enhanced risk for harm (JA 461, 465-467, Vol. 2). While the Respondents argued below that they were under no duty to take any steps to arrange for Austin's admission to a psychiatric facility, the expert opinion evidence was that given the many risk factors present at the time of Austin's visit to WTC, an appropriate assessment of Austin's suicidality was required by the standard of care; and such assessment, if properly conducted, would have resulted in the determination that Austin's elevated risk for harm required a referral to a psychiatric facility where his suicidal ideation with a plan, substance use disorder, and depression could be appropriately evaluated and treated (JA 468-469, Vol. 2).¹

Both the WTC counselor and Dr. Schultz acknowledged that their concerns about Austin resulted in their decision to undertake a suicide risk assessment. However, in opposition to Petitioner's MPLA claim premised upon the alleged failure to conduct such suicide risk assessment in a manner consistent with the applicable standard of care, Respondents argued that

¹ Defendants mischaracterize Petitioner's evidence as to the required standard of care as mandating involuntary commitment. The testimony, however, was that the required referral to a psychiatric facility certainly included a voluntary admission; and that neither Austin nor his Father resisted such admission after WTC staff told Austin that he needed to be evaluated at Northwood.

“the Defendants had no duty to seek commitment of Austin Ghaphery and the evidence shows he would not have qualified if he they had...on the basis that ...he was not having a “psychiatric emergency”, was not mentally ill, and was not deemed likely to commit harm to himself. (JA 493, Vol. 2).

By Order of July 27, 2021 the Court not only denied Respondents’ Motion for Summary Judgment due to the existence of genuine issues of material fact, but also expressly found that “some of Defendants’ allegations and conclusions are inconsistent with the records in the Court file and with West Virginia civil law.” (JA 622-623, Vol. 2).

Following the Circuit Court’s denial of the Respondents’ Amended Motion for Summary Judgment, Petitioner moved the Circuit Court for a pre-trial ruling that Austin was a “patient” for purposes of bringing the instant action under the MPLA (JA 632-637, Vol. 2). Respondents opposed the motion and reiterated their contention that “no physician-patient relationship was formed and at no time did the Defendants either individually or collectively, agree to provide *any* medical service(s) to Austin Ghaphery.” (JA 699-704, Vol. 3). Petitioner replied by asserting that Austin must be found to be a “patient” of the Respondents because he was a “person” who received “healthcare” from a “healthcare provider”; and that once a healthcare provider engages in affirmative conduct such as to constitute “healthcare”, he/she comes under duty to provide such “healthcare” in accordance with the accepted standard of care as provided for under W.Va. Code §55-7B-2(m); and 55-7B-2(e)(1) and (2) (JA 717-722, Vol. 3). Notwithstanding the extensive briefing on Petitioner’s request for a pre-trial ruling that Austin was a “patient” for purposes of bringing the instant action under the MPLA the Circuit Court never ruled on that motion.

Two weeks before trial, however, Respondents filed a “Bench Brief” whereby they requested the Circuit Court to find that they owed no duty to Austin sufficient to support a claim

under the MPLA (JA 823-828, Vol. 3). Petitioner filed a responsive memorandum reminding the Circuit Court that the Respondents “no duty” defense had already been argued in their amended motion for summary judgment, considered, and denied (JA 263, Vol. 1). Petitioner also advised the Circuit Court that the issues pertaining to Respondents’ “no duty” defense had previously been briefed in conjunction with Petitioner’s Motion for Pre-trial Ruling that Austin Ghaphery was a “Patient” for Purposes of Bringing the Instant Action Under the MPLA (JA 263, Vol. 1; JA 632, Vol. 1; JA 699, JA 717, Vol. 3) and also discussed multiple other pre-trial filings made in connection with the admissibility of exhibits and the appropriateness of proposed jury instructions for use in the case (JA 833-839, Vol. 3).

By Order of Court dated September 21, 2022 (5 days before trial) the Circuit Court entered its Revised Order granting Respondents’ motion for summary judgment (JA 886-888, Vol. 3). The essence of the Circuit Court’s ruling is its conclusion that no patient-healthcare provider relationship was established between Austin and Respondents upon which liability can be based. (*Id.*) In reaching its decision the Circuit Court stated that:

“the critical fact is that Austin Ghaphery was denied admission to the Wheeling Treatment Program. Therefore, absent a healthcare provider relationship, there was no duty or law requiring that Wheeling Treatment Center had to accept Austin, either voluntarily or involuntarily, to its inpatient psychiatric treatment facility. When the Wheeling Treatment Center denied the admission to the facility, it had no reason or legal duty to attempt to commit Austin voluntarily or involuntarily. Thus the Defendants in this case had no duty to attempt to prevent Austin’s death by opioid overdose 21 days after he was denied admission to the program.” (*Id.* at JA 887, Vol. 3).

The Circuit Court’s Order uses verbatim language adopted from Respondents’ “Bench Brief”; but the incongruity with Respondents’ admitted evaluation of Austin (who the Circuit Court acknowledged was technically a patient while he was there for the initial assessment), and the Court’s finding that no healthcare provider-patient relationship was established was never explained.

The ICA affirmed the Circuit Court's grant of summary judgment to Respondents by Order dated September 21, 2022 (JA 886, Vol. 3).

Following the ICA's affirmance of the Circuit Court's Order granting summary judgment to Defendants, Petitioner filed the instant appeal.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Assignment of Error No. 1: Respondents' owed a duty to conduct Austin's pre-admission initial assessment in accordance with the standard of care provided for under the MPLA

In finding that Respondents owed no duty of care to Petitioner, the ICA, as well as the Court below, failed to separate the “duty of care” required for the initial assessment (the diagnostic portion of the health care provided) – from what defendants have continuously misrepresented below and on appeal to be the issue presented – Respondents “duty to admit” Austin to its MAT treatment program. But at no time below, or on appeal, has Petitioner ever taken the position that Respondents had any “duty to admit” Austin to its MAT Program of treatment. Rather, it has been Petitioner’s contention at all times, and continues to be, that having made an appointment for Austin for his drug problem, by having him sign an intake form, and undergo an initial assessment that requires adherence of medical criteria as mandated by Respondents own internal policies, and State Law, that Respondents had a duty to meet that standard of care. “Healthcare” under the MPLA includes any “medical diagnosis or act, service or treatment performed or which should have been performed by any healthcare provider to a patient during a patient’s medical care.” W.Va. Code §55-7B-2(e)(1). The initial assessment of Austin conducted by WTC staff and Dr. Schultz was such as to constitute “healthcare” under the terms of the MPLA. W.Va. Code §55-7B-2(e)(1) When a healthcare provider engages in affirmative conduct such as to constitute “healthcare”, such healthcare provider comes under a

duty to provide such “healthcare” in accordance with the accepted standard of care provided for under the MPLA. A “patient” is a person who received “healthcare” from a “healthcare provider” under an express or implied contract. W.Va. Code §55-7B-2(m). At the time Austin receives his initial assessment by WTC staff and Dr. Schultz he was a “patient” receiving “healthcare” from a “healthcare provider” under an express or implied contract. W.Va. Code §55-7B-2(m). At the time WTC staff and Dr. Schultz provided healthcare to Austin by conducting an initial assessment to determine whether he met the criteria for admission to the MAT Program, they were under a duty to conduct such initial assessment in accordance with the accepted standard of care provided in the MPLA, and the Circuit Court’s finding that the Respondents did not have a duty to conduct its initial assessment in accordance with the standard of care provided in the MPLA – because Austin was ultimately not admitted to the MAT Program – is erroneous.

Assignment of Error 2: Respondents owed a duty to conduct Austin’s suicide risk assessment in accordance with the standard of care provided for under the MPLA.

Likewise, the ICA’s finding that Austin was not a “patient” for purposes of any suicide risk conducted by Dr. Schultz is inconsistent with the MPLA. Dr. Schultz admits to having conducted a suicide risk assessment of Austin independent of his initial assessment of Austin for MAT treatment. Once he undertook responsibility for providing such health care, Austin became his patient as a matter of law. In granting the Motion for Summary Judgment, and in affirming the Circuit Court’s dismissal, both courts ignored this clear distinction, by focusing only on a “duty to admit” which was never advanced by Petitioner. At the time WTC staff and Dr. Schultz conducted Austin’s suicide risk assessment he was a “patient” receiving “healthcare” from a “healthcare provider” under an express or implied contract. W.Va. Code §55-7B-2(m). At the time WTC staff and Dr. Schultz provided healthcare to Austin by conducting any suicide risk

assessment to determine whether he was at enhanced risk for self-harm, they were under a duty to conduct such suicide risk assessment in accordance with the accepted standard of care provided under the MPLA.

The Circuit Court's finding and ICA affirmance that the Respondents did not come under a duty to conduct Austin's suicide risk assessment in accordance with the standard of care provided in the MPLA is erroneous.

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