IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

**NICHOLAS A. GHAPHERY, D.O.,
As Personal Representative of the
Estate of Austin Ghaphery,**

Petitioner,

v.

**ON APPEAL FROM
INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF W.VA.,
No. 22-ICA-150; AND
CIRCUIT COURT OF OHIO COUNTY, W.VA.
CIVIL ACTION No. 19-C-182**

**WHEELING TREATMENT CENTER, LLC,
And JOHN SCHULTZ, M.D.,**

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF

Counsel for Respondents:

Rita Massie Biser (WVSB#7195)
Lynnette Simon Marshall (WVSB#8009)
MOORE & BISER, PLLC
317 Fifth Avenue
South Charleston, WV 25303
Telephone: 304-414-2300
Facsimile: 304-414-4506
rbiser@moorebiserlaw.com
lmarshall@moorebiserlaw.com

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

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner's Decedent presented to the Wheeling Treatment Center on September 28, 2017, to be *considered* for admission to the medication assisted opioid treatment program. Despite Petitioner's arguments to the contrary, there is no law and no duty which mandated that the Respondents accept Austin Ghaphery as a patient; they have the constitutional right to refuse treatment of any individual, at their discretion – so long as there is no discriminatory intent. Right or wrong, the Decedent was not accepted as a patient and the Respondents were under no legal duty to do so. Accordingly, no physician-patient relationship was formed and at no time did the Respondents, either individually or collectively, agree to provide *any* medical service to the Decedent. Rather, he was immediately rejected from the program, was never a patient of the Respondents, and was free to obtain treatment from whatever source he and his family chose.

Moreover, these Respondents engaged in no act or failure to act which proximately caused any injury or damage to the Petitioner and/or his Decedent. When the Decedent presented to the Respondents' MAT program on September 28, 2017: his urine drug screen came back negative for opioids (JA Vol. 1:292); he did not disclose an addiction to opioids, a history of abuse of opioids, nor an imminent intent to use opiates in the future (JA Vol. 1: 293, 304, 308-09); and he was not exhibiting any clinical signs of opioid withdrawal. (JA Vol. 1: 293, 302, 310, 319-20).

Likewise, despite the Petitioner's claims that the Respondents should have sought voluntary and/or involuntary commitment of the Decedent, the factual certainty in this case is that the Decedent was not in psychiatric crisis and was not a danger to himself or others on the day he presented to WTC. (JA Vol. 3: 862). While the Petitioner's experts arrive at their opinions of an inadequate assessment by discounting and refusing to believe the testimony of the Respondents, perhaps most devastating to the Petitioner's claim is the lack of *any evidence* that the Decedent ever attempted or committed suicide.

Despite these facts and operable law, the Petitioner seeks to have this Court create a legal duty upon a healthcare professionals to accept as patients, diagnose, and then render treat to all persons who present to them without consideration of whether that person is appropriate for treatment by that particular healthcare professional, whether that healthcare professional's scope of practice permits treatment of that individual's condition(s), and/or whether that healthcare professional wants to accept the person as a patient. Such a ruling would then extend the liability of healthcare providers for the subsequent illness and/or death of every person whom they declined to treat, provided no treatment to, and never saw again.

A ruling in favor of the Petitioner would require all healthcare providers, regardless of specialty or permissible scope of practice, to diagnose – with or without the consent and cooperation of the patient, any and all potential medical and/or mental health conditions of the person, accept them as a patient for treatment of all nature of medical problems, make direct referral(s) to any number of additional healthcare providers, and then somehow force the patient to follow up. While infringing greatly upon the constitutional autonomy of all healthcare providers to voluntarily enter into (or not enter into) physician-patient relationships, a ruling in favor of the Petitioner would be a violation of the Respondents' Constitutional right against involuntary

servitude, deprive them of the opportunity to exercise their medical judgment, and strip them of the right to choose which patients to accept and treat.

Finally, Petitioner's claims herein are governed by the West Virginia Medical Professional Liability Act ("MPLA"), as a function of the operative facts and *allegations* at issue, i.e., "medical professional liability" against a "health care provider." See W.VA. CODE § 55-7B-1, *et. seq.* Consequently, amendment of the Petitioner's Complaint is not warranted as the same would be futile under longstanding West Virginia law. *See, e.g., Blankenship v. Ethicon*, 221 W.Va. 700, 656 S.E.2d 451, 458 (2007).

V. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Pursuant to Rule 18 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure, Petitioner submits that oral argument is necessary as there are extensive legal arguments on behalf of the Respondents in support of affirming the Circuit Court and Intermediate Court of Appeal's rulings. While adequately presented in Respondents' Brief and the record below, Respondents submit that this Honorable Court will be significantly aided by oral argument. Oral argument is appropriate pursuant to Rule 20 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure argument, as a case involving "issues of fundamental public importance" as well as implication of the Respondents' constitutional liberties not to be required to accept patients through the erroneous application of an alleged "standard of care" for the performance of an admission assessment for which there can be no duty to accept the patient for admission. W.VA. R. APP. P. 20(a)(2).

VI. ARGUMENT

In this case, the Petitioner seeks an unprecedeted ruling from this Court which would be tantamount to the unconstitutional curtailment of West Virginia healthcare professionals' right to choose whether or not to enter into a voluntary physician-patient relationship. More dangerous,

however, is that any ruling which creates a legal duty upon a healthcare provider to treat any and all persons under any and all circumstances, outside of EMTALA, correspondingly extends the liability of healthcare providers for the subsequent illness and/or death of every person whom they declined to treat, provided no treatment to, and never saw again.

Concerningly, a ruling in favor of the Petitioner, and thus the expansive finding of “duty” that would require, would necessarily deny not only healthcare providers, but really all service providers, i.e. lawyers, accountants, contractors, etc., the right to decline to accept patients, clients, and customers whom they do not and/or cannot treat, represent, or provide services to following preliminary discussions with a putative patient/client/customer. In short, a ruling in favor of the Petitioner would necessarily find that if a service provider is approached about a service and declines to provide it, that he or she could still be indefinitely liable for any damage which one might argue arises, however tenuously, from the failure to perform the service ~ even when the person seeking, and allegedly qualified to receive the service, was fully aware that the service was not going to be provided and takes no action to find any other professional willing to perform said service. Such an extension of the doctrine of “legal duty” and *ad infinitum* liability is untenable under the law.

A. DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS PROPERLY GRANTED BY THE CIRCUIT COURT AND UPHELD BY THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS AS THE RESPONDENTS HAD NO LEGAL DUTY TO ACCEPT PETITIONER’S DECEDENT AS A PATIENT OR TO PROVIDE HIM WITH MEDICAL TREATMENT.

The ruling from the Circuit Court, as set forth in its September 21, 2022, REVISED ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND FINDING THAT DEFENDANTS HAD NO DUTY TO ACCEPT OR TREAT THE DECEDENT, AUSTIN GHAPHERY was that these Respondents “had no duty, as a matter of law, to accept as patient or otherwise treat the decedent[.]” (JA Vol. 3: 888). In harmony with the precedent of this Court and the national

majority, the Circuit Court found “that there is no duty of care owed to every person who is screened but not accepted for treatment as a patient, and, in this case, is never treated as a patient and who is never seen again.” (JA Vol. 2: 888). Contrary to the Petitioner’s assignments of error and arguments regarding the Decedent’s status as a patient, the Circuit Court found that “[a]lthough [the Decedent] was technically identified as a “patient” while he was there for pre-admission assessment, he was not accepted as a patient thereafter because he was refused admission to the program.” (JA Vol. 3: 887).

No liability can arise from the Respondents’ failure to accept the Decedent as a patient regardless of whether he objectively qualified for the Respondents’ MAT program or not. The Respondents’ refusal to admit the Decedent as a patient to the WTC MAT program is simply not actionable. Despite the Petitioner’s attempt to create such a tort, and thereafter a genuine issue of fact with allegations, as opposed to material facts, his efforts are in vain as this case presents purely a question of law. As acknowledged by the Intermediate Court of Appeals, the Petitioner “cites no federal or state statute or rule which imposes a legal requirement on WTC or its Medical Director to admit or treat individuals for opioid addiction or any other diagnosis.” (JA Vol. 3: 997). “West Virginia’s medication assisted treatment legislative rule does not impose a requirement on facilities to provide healthcare even if an individual meets the criteria for admission.” Id. Rather, “medication assisted treatment facilities are free to decline patients regardless of whether they qualify for opioid treatment and regardless of their mental status.” Id. And yet, as it so happens, the Petitioner’s Decedent *did not qualify* for the Respondents’ medication assisted treatment program on September 27, 2017, when he presented for his pre-admission assessment. Nevertheless, and even if the Decedent had somehow objectively qualified

for the Respondents' MAT program and was declined, the Respondents' failure to accept the Petitioner's Decedent as a patient is not actionable. Id.

The Petitioner's arguments before this Court boil down to a flawed and speculative theory, unfairly reasoning that since the Decedent died of an accidental opioid drug overdose thirty-six (36) days *after* he presented to the Respondents for assessment, then it should be retrospectively presumed that the Decedent qualified for admission into the Respondents' MAT program a month earlier, and thus it was a breach of the standard of care for the Respondents not to accept him or otherwise transfer the Decedent for commitment to an in-patient psychiatric facility. As a factual matter, the Petitioner's strained theory completely ignores not only the very real passage of time, over a month between the Decedent's presentation and his death, but also the objective medical findings of another, independent physician, Dr. Bradley Schmitt, who assessed the Decedent *after* the Respondents (JA Vol. 2: 337-38), as well as the testimony of the Petitioner, also a medical doctor, regarding his observation of his son during that intervening time period. (JA Vol. 1: 318). The Petitioner conveniently ignores the total absence of any statutory or common law duty on the part of the Respondents to provide treatment to the Decedent while simultaneously seeking to infringe upon the Respondents' constitutional right not to be forced into a physician-patient relationship against their will by asserting a nonexistent standard of care which would require all healthcare providers to involuntarily accept all persons as patients for treatment.

Under the law, there simply is no "standard of care" governing how or when a healthcare provider may decline to accept a patient, and no mandate to treat a person outside of the limited scope dictated by EMTALA, which is not applicable here. "Standard of care" is the level at which one performs a duty owed. "Duty" is a legal obligation that is deemed to arise under the law in designated circumstances. Once such a duty is established, then the standard of care dictates the

manner in which those obligations must be carried out. Presently, however, the Petitioner's arguments herein confuse the legal question of whether a duty exists, with the factual question of whether, once established, that duty was breached by the failure of the practitioner to comply with the applicable standard of care. "In order to establish a *prima facie* case of negligence in West Virginia, it must be shown that the defendant has been guilty of some act or omission in violation of a duty to the plaintiff. No action will lie without a duty broken." Syl. Pt. 1, Parsley v. General Motors Acceptance Corp., 167 W.Va. 866, 280 S.E.2d 703 (1981); Syl. Pt. 4, Wal-Mart Stores East, L.P. v. Ankrom, 244 W.Va. 437, 854 S.E.2d 257 (2020); Salas v. Gamboa, 760 S.W.2d 838 (Tex. App. 1988) ("[i]t is clear that before the question of standard of care is reached, the court must first determine as a question of law whether there is a legal duty on the defendant's part."). West Virginia law provides that whether a particular party owes a duty of care is an issue of law which may be properly decided by a trial court a motion for summary judgment. Syl. Pt. 5, Aikens v. Debow, 208 W.Va. 486, 541 S.E.2d 576 (2000).

In a medical malpractice action, a plaintiff must prove that the physician owed a duty of care to the patient to act according to an applicable standard of care. Stated another way, "[t]he essence of a medical malpractice action is a physician-patient relationship. . . . unless such a relationship is established, a legal duty cannot exist between the parties." Gooch v. West Virginia Dept. of Public Safety, 195 W. 357, 366, 465 S.E.2d 628, 637 (1995). The formation of the physician-patient relationship is a prerequisite to the imposition of a legal duty on a physician and/or healthcare facility to provide medical services to a patient. Id. Consequently, a health care provider's duty to act arises because of a physician-patient relationship and does not exist absent that relationship. Id. Without sufficient evidence to establish the creation of a physician-patient relationship, no finding can be made as to whether these Respondents breached, violated, or

appropriately discharged any such duty related to the Decedent. *See e.g., State ex rel. West Virginia Board of Examiners for Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology v. Lindsay*, 2018 WL 3005950 *5 (W.Va. Sup. Ct. App., June 15, 2018), unreported. “The essence of a medical malpractice action is a physician-patient relationship. . . unless such a relationship is established a legal duty cannot exist between the parties.” *Gooch*, 195 W.Va. 357, 366, 465 S.E.2d 628, 637 (1995).

Petitioner’s medical negligence action alleges that the Respondents breached the standard of care in their pre-patient assessment of the Decedent and therefore failed to either accept him as a patient of the WTC’s opioid MAT program and/or failed to seek his involuntary commitment to an inpatient psychiatric facility for psychiatric treatment. During recitation of his case to the Circuit Court, the Intermediate Court of Appeals and now this Court, the Petitioner wholly ignores the absence of any legally recognized *duty* on the part of the Respondents to accept the Decedent as a patient and skips directly to arguing that the Respondents failed to meet the standard of care. The Petitioner seeks to muddle this record with baseless allegations and allegedly disputed facts without mention or reference to *any* judicial precedent which might provide the legal predicate for his claim, i.e. any legal support establishing that the Respondents *had a duty* to accept the Petitioner’s Decedent as a patient and/or a duty to provide him with any care or treatment of any kind. While the Respondents vehemently deny that they were negligent, in the absence of a duty to accept the Decedent into the MAT program, the manner in which the Respondents went about determining whether or not they would accept the Decedent as a patient is wholly immaterial. In the absence of a legally recognized duty on the part of the Respondents to accept the Decedent into their MAT program, there can be no claim that the Respondent’s negligently failed to do so.

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